File	No.	210772

Committee	ltem No.	9	
Board Item	No.		

COMMITTEE/BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

AGENDA PACKET CONTENTS LIST

	Government Audit and Oversigh pervisors Meeting:	<u>nt</u>	Date: Date:	July 15, 2021
Cmte Boar	d			
	Motion Resolution Ordinance Legislative Digest Budget and Legislative Analyst Youth Commission Report Introduction Form Department/Agency Cover Lett MOU Grant Information Form Grant Budget Subcontract Budget Contract/Agreement Form 126 – Ethics Commission Award Letter Application Public Correspondence	er and/		oort
OTHER				
	Real Estate Division Letter in re	Purcha	ise Op	tion – May 13, 2021
H				
Prepared by:		Date: Date:	July	9, 2021
Prepared by:	John Carroll	Date:		

2	Supportive Housing - \$29,000,000]
3	Resolution approving the Director of Property, on behalf of the Department of
4	Homelessness and Supportive Housing, to execute a purchase and sale agreement for
5	the purchase of real property located at 888 Post Street, for \$29,000,000 plus typical
6	closing costs, from TC II 888 Post, LLC; and authorizing the Director of Property to
7	execute documents, make certain modifications and take certain actions in furtherance
8	of the Purchase Agreement, the Purchase Option, the Lease and this Resolution, as
9	defined herein.
10	
11	WHEREAS, The mission of the Department of Homelessness and Supportive
12	Housing ("HSH") is to prevent homelessness when possible and to make homelessness a
13	rare, brief and one-time experience in San Francisco through the provision of coordinated,
14	compassionate and high-quality services; and
15	WHEREAS, With the enactment of Ordinance Nos. 60-19 and 61-19 in April 2019,
16	the Board of Supervisors and Mayor Breed acknowledged homelessness in San Francisco to
17	be at a crisis point, and passed these Ordinances to expedite the process of opening
18	programs to respond to that crisis; and
19	WHEREAS, The Board of Supervisors unanimously passed Supervisor Peskin's

[Purchase of Real Property - TC II 888 Post, LLC - 888 Post Street - Homelessness and

Supervisors in File No. 190738; and
 WHEREAS, On February 25, 2020, through Resolution No. 71-20, the Board of
 Supervisors adopted a resolution authorizing the Real Estate Division, through HSH, and in

and/or workforce development on July 9, 2019, on file with the Clerk of the Board of

resolution urging the Real Estate Division to pursue an option to lease or purchase the 33,970

square foot property located at 888 Post Street (the "Property") for use as a Navigation Center

20

21

1 consultation with the Office of the City Attorney, to enter into a 20-year master lease dated 2 January 13, 2020 (the "Lease") of the Property with TC II 888 Post, LLC ("Landlord"), for the 3 primary purpose of providing temporary shelter to people experiencing homelessness in San Francisco and to provide related services, a copy of the Lease and associated approvals is on 4 file with the Clerk of the Board in File No. 200043; and 5 6 WHEREAS, Under the Lease, the Landlord granted the City an exclusive and irrevocable option to purchase the Property ("Purchase Option"), pursuant to terms and conditions specified 7 in the Lease, for the purchase price of \$29,000,000 ("Purchase Price"); and 8 9 WHEREAS, Under the Lease, the City may exercise the Purchase Option at any time during the term of the Lease so long as there is sufficient time to allow closing to occur by 10 August 1, 2022; and 11 12 WHEREAS, The City sent notice to the Landlord by letter dated May 13, 2021 ("Notice"), 13 exercising the City's Purchase Option, with the City and the Landlord agreeing to use good faith 14 efforts to consummate the conveyance to City on or before August 31, 2021, a copy of the 15 Notice is on file with the Clerk of the Board in File No. 210772; and 16 WHEREAS, Along with the Notice, the City included a form of purchase and sale 17 agreement ("Purchase Agreement") previously included as part of the Lease, which was 18 executed by all parties shortly thereafter, a copy of the Purchase Agreement is on file with the 19 Clerk of the Board in File No. 210772; and 20 WHEREAS, The effectiveness of the City's Purchase Option and the Purchase 21 Agreement is subject to approval of this Resolution by the Board of Supervisors and Mayor, in 22 their absolute and sole discretion; and 23 WHEREAS, Under the Lease at the Property, the City has successfully opened the 24 first Navigation Center dedicated to meet the unique needs of Transitional Aged Youth

experiencing homelessness; and

1	WHREAS, Upon the City's acquisition of the Property, the City will continue to
2	operate the Navigation Center while competitively soliciting proposals for potential tenants to
3	occupy other portions of the Property; and
4	WHEREAS, Subject to authority provided under Resolution No. 71-20 and any other
5	authority under Chapter 23 of the Administrative Code, any future lease or sublease of the
6	Property will be subject to future approval by the Board of Supervisors; and
7	WHEREAS, The Planning Department, by letter dated February 11, 2020 (the
8	"Planning Letter") found that the City's proposed acquisition of the Property is categorically
9	exempt as a Class 3 exemption under the California Environmental Quality Act ("CEQA")
10	Guidelines Section 15303 (the "CEQA Determination"), and is consistent with the General
11	Plan, and the eight priority policies of Planning Code, Section 101.1 (the "General Plan
12	Findings"), a copy of the Planning Letter is on file with the Clerk of the Board in File
13	No. 200043; and
14	WHEREAS, The Purchase Price, plus an estimated \$100,000 for typical closing costs,
15	are collectively referred to as the "Acquisition Cost;" and
16	WHEREAS, On June 17, 2021, this Board of Supervisors enacted Ordinance
17	No. 082-21, a copy of which is on file with the Clerk of the Board in File No. 210422, which
18	amongst other things and other appropriations, appropriated \$29,100,000 ("888 Post
19	Proceeds") of the Series 2021D Health and Recovery General Obligation Bonds to HSH for
20	the purpose of acquiring the Property under the Purchase Agreement, subject to the sale of
21	bonds in the amount of the 888 Post Proceeds, which is expected to occur prior to
22	August 31, 2021; and
23	WHEREAS, The Director of Property determines the Purchase Price of the Property to
24	be at or below fair market value; now, therefore, be it

1	RESOLVED, That in accordance with the recommendations of the Executive Director
2	of HSH and the Director of Property, the Board of Supervisors approves the Purchase
3	Agreement presented to the Board, and approves the Executive Director of HSH, the Director
4	of Property, and the Director of Public Finance, to take all actions necessary or appropriate to
5	effectuate the Purchase Option, the Purchase Agreement, and this Resolution; and, be it
6	FURTHER RESOLVED, That the Board of Supervisors approves the Director of
7	Property (or the Directors' designees), in consultation with the Executive Director of HSH and
8	the City Attorney, to enter into any additions, amendments, or other modifications to the
9	Purchase Agreement and any other documents or instruments necessary in connection
10	therewith, that the Directors determine are in the best interests of the City, do not materially
11	decrease the benefits to the City with respect to the Property, do not materially increase the
12	obligations or liabilities of the City, and are necessary or advisable to complete the transaction
13	contemplated in the Lease, the Purchase Option, and the Purchase Agreement, and that
14	effectuate the purpose and intent of this Resolution, such determination to be conclusively
15	evidenced by the execution and delivery by the Director of Property of any such additions,
16	amendments, or other modifications; and, be it
17	FURTHER RESOLVED, That upon the sale of the 888 Post Proceeds, the Director
18	of Property is authorized to acquire the Property at the Acquisition Cost; and
19	FURTHER RESOLVED, That under the Purchase Agreement City shall indemnify
20	and hold harmless the Landlord from, and agree to defend the Landlord against, any and all
21	claims, costs and expenses, including without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees, incurred
22	as a result of City's use of the premises or any negligent acts or omissions of City, its agents
23	or invitees in, on or about the Property; and, be it
24	FURTHER RESOLVED, That within thirty (30) days after the Closing, HSH shall

provide any applicable final contracts to the Clerk of the Board for inclusion into the official file.

1			
2			\$29,100,000 (Available upon upcoming bond sales)
			15513
3		Fund ID:	CPXCF 20 HEALTH&RECOV S2021D
4			203646
7		Department ID:	HOM Programs
5			10036340
6		Project ID:	PW 888 Post TAY Nav Center
6			21707
7		Authority ID:	2020 Health and Recovery Bond
		Account ID:	506070
8		A . (1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	0020
9		Activity ID:	PW 888 Post TAY Nav Center
J			
10			<u>/s/</u>
11			Michelle Allersma, Budget and Analysis
			Division Director on behalf of Ben Rosenfield, Controller
12			Beri Noserineia, Controller
12			Funding for Fiscal Year 2021/2022 is
13			subject to issuance of General
14			Obligation Bonds as authorized per
			Ordinance No. 082-21
15			
16			
17	RECOMMENDED:		
17			
18			
19	/s/		
19	Shireen McSpadden		
20	Homelessness and Supportive	Housing	
0.4	Executive Director		
21			
22			
22	/s/		
23	Andrico Q. Penick		
24	Real Estate Division		
0=	Director of Property		
25			

CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

BUDGET AND LEGISLATIVE ANALYST

1390 Market Street, Suite 1150, San Francisco, CA 94102 (415) 552-9292 FAX (415) 252-0461

July 9, 2021

TO: Government Audit and Oversight Committee

FROM: Budget and Legislative Analyst

SUBJECT: July 15, 2021 Government Audit and Oversight Committee Meeting

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Item	File	Page
9	21-0772 Purchase of Real Property - TC II 888 Post, LLC - 888 Post Street - Homelessness and Supportive Housing - \$29,000,000	1
10	21-0773 Real Property Lease Extension - Opera Plaza, L.P Administrative Offices - 601 Van Ness Avenue - \$363,132 Annual Base Rent	4

Item 9	Department:
File 21-0772	Homelessness and Supportive Housing

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Legislative Objectives

• The proposed resolution authorizes the Director of Real Estate to execute a purchase and sale agreement for 888 Post Street in the amount of \$29 million.

Key Points

- The Board of Supervisors approved a resolution in July 2019, urging the City's Real Estate Division to pursue a financially feasible option to lease or purchase 888 Post Street for use as a Navigation Center or other use serving homeless and formerly homeless individuals, and in February 2020, approved the lease of 888 Post Street for use as a Navigation Center. The lease provided the City an option to purchase the property prior to August 2022 for \$29 million. The lease also provided for systems and seismic upgrades to the building, with total costs of \$14.6 million of which the City contributed approximately \$5.1 million and the balance paid by the property owner.
- 888 Post Street is a three-story, 33,970 square foot building located at the corner of Hyde and Post Streets. A Navigation Center with 75-bed capacity opened on the third and portion of the second floor in February 2021, serving approximately 43 youth (due to COVID restrictions) between the ages of 18 and 24. The remaining portion of the second floor and the ground floor are currently vacant. The Department of Homelessness and Supportive Housing is in the process of drafting a Request for Proposals (RFP) to identify tenants and uses compatible with the Transitional Age Youth Navigation Center for the second and ground floors.
- An appraisal conducted by R.Blum+Associates in June 2021 confirmed the purchase price, and an appraisal review will be completed as of July 12, 2021.

Fiscal Impact

- The Board of Supervisors authorized sale of \$425 million in 2020 Health and Recovery General Obligation Bonds in May 2021, which included \$29.1 million for the purchase of 888 Post Street for use as a Transitional Age Youth Navigation Center.
- Total purchase costs are \$29 million for the purchase price and \$50,000 for insurance and associated transaction costs. Because the property is purchased by the City, the transaction does not incur transfer taxes which would generally be paid by the seller; the value to the seller of the foregone transfer taxes is approximately \$1.2 million.

Recommendation

Approve the proposed resolution.

MANDATE STATEMENT

City Charter Section 9.118(b) states that any contract entered into by a department, board or commission that (1) has a term of more than ten years, (2) requires expenditures of \$10 million or more, or (3) requires a modification of more than \$500,000 is subject to Board of Supervisors approval.

Administrative Code Section 23.3 requires an appraisal of the fair market value of property and an appraisal review for properties with a fair market value of more than \$200,000, prior to consideration of the property purchase by the Board of Supervisors.

BACKGROUND

The Board of Supervisors approved a resolution in July 2019, urging the City's Real Estate Division to pursue a financially feasible option to lease or purchase 888 Post Street for use as a Navigation Center and/or workforce development and multi-use service center serving homeless and/or formerly homeless individuals (File 19-0738). Subsequently in February 2020, the Board of Supervisors approved the lease of 888 Post Street for use as a Navigation Center (File 20-0043). The lease provided the City an option to purchase the property prior to August 2022 for \$29 million.

DETAILS OF PROPOSED LEGISLATION

The proposed resolution authorizes the Director of Real Estate to execute a purchase and sale agreement for 888 Post Street in the amount of \$29 million.

Property Description and Use

888 Post Street is a three-story, 33,970 square foot building located at the corner of Hyde and Post Streets. The City entered into a lease for the property in October 2020¹ for use by the Department of Homelessness and Supportive Housing as a 75-bed Navigation Center for Transitional Age Youth. The Navigation Center opened on the third and portion of the second floor in February 2021, serving approximately 43 youth (due to COVID restrictions) between the ages of 18 and 24.

The remaining portion of the second floor and the ground floor are currently vacant. According to Department staff, the Department is in the process of drafting a Request for Proposals (RFP) to identify tenants and uses compatible with the Transitional Age Youth Navigation Center for the second and ground floors.

Prior Capital and Tenant Improvements

The original lease between the City and the property owner, TC II 888 Post, LLC, provided for the owner to make seismic and building system upgrades. Actual work completed at 888 Post Street consisted of structural/seismic upgrades; construction of a mezzanine; new electrical,

¹ The rent commencement date was December 2020. The Department of Homelessness and Supportive Housing has paid \$1,045,228 on rent/lease costs as of June 2021.

mechanical, plumbing and fire/life safety systems; new elevator and elevator equipment; new roofing; accessibility and egress upgrades; new exterior fencing and re-painting; and procurement and installation of furniture, fixtures, and equipment for the Navigation Center. Space on the second and ground floors that is not currently occupied is unimproved, for which improvements will be incurred in future leases.

Total cost of the work was \$14.6 million of which the City contributed approximately \$5.1 million, with the balance paid by the property owner The purchase and sale agreement states that all improvements and fixtures are included in the purchase.

The purchase of the property is "as-is". The City has the opportunity to conduct testing and inspections prior to the close of the purchase. According to the Real Estate Division, all due diligence has been completed and no further testing is required.

Appraisals

The purchase price of \$29 million was included in the purchase option provision in the lease between the City and TC II 888 Post, LLC. According to the Budget and Legislative Analyst's report to February 12, 2020 Budget and Finance Committee meeting, the purchase price of \$29 million was proposed by the landlord. The Real Estate Division assessed the reasonableness of the proposed \$29 million purchase amount using an income approach to estimate the value of the lease, and 5 percent capitalization rate. An appraisal conducted R.Blum+Associates in June 2021 confirmed the purchase price. According to the Real Estate Division, an appraisal review will be completed as of July 12, 2021.

FISCAL IMPACT

Property Purchase

The Board of Supervisors authorized sale of \$425 million in 2020 Health and Recovery General Obligation Bonds in May 2021, which included \$29.1 million for the purchase of 888 Post Street for use as a Transitional Age Youth Navigation Center (File 21-0387). The Office of Public Finance anticipates a pricing date for the 2020 Health and Recovery General Obligation Bonds of July 20, 2021, and transaction close date of August 5, 2021.

According to the Real Estate Division, total purchase costs are \$29 million for the purchase price and \$50,000 for insurance and associated transaction costs. Because the property is purchased by the City, the transaction does not incur transfer taxes which would generally be paid by the seller; the value to the seller of the foregone transfer taxes is approximately \$1.2 million.

Homelessness and Supportive Housing Costs

The Department of Homelessness and Supportive Housing included \$3,289,123 in the FY 2021-22 budget, pending before the Board of Supervisors, for operating the Transitional Age Youth Navigation Center. FY 2021-22 expenditures are funded by the State Homeless Housing and Assistance Program grant. FY 2022-23 expenditures are recommended to be funded by Our City Our Home funds.

RECOMMENDATION

Approve the proposed resolution.

SAN FRANCISCO BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

AGREEMENT OF PURCHASE AND SALE FOR REAL ESTATE

by and between

TC II 888 POST, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company as Seller

and

CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO, as Buyer

For the purchase and sale of

888 Post Street San Francisco, California

May 18, 2021

TABLE OF CONTENTS

			Page
1.	PUR	CHASE AND SALE	1
	1.1	Property Included in Sale	1
2.	PUR	CHASE PRICE	2
	2.1	Purchase Price	2
	2.2	Payment	2
	2.3	Funds	3
3.	TITL	LE TO THE PROPERTY; TITLE INSURANCE	3
	3.1	Conveyance of the Property	3
	3.2	Title Insurance; Title and Survey Review	3
4.	BUY	YER'S DUE DILIGENCE INVESTIGATIONS	4
	4.1	Due Diligence and Time for Satisfaction of Conditions	4
	4.2	As Is Sale; Waiver and Release	6
5.	CON	NDITIONS TO CLOSING	9
	5.1	City's Conditions to Closing	9
	5.2	Satisfaction or Waiver of City Conditions	10
	5.3	Seller's Conditions to Closing	10
	5.4	Satisfaction or Waiver of Seller Conditions	10
	5.5	Seller Default	11
	5.6	City Default	11
6.	ESC	ROW AND CLOSING	11
	6.1	Opening of Escrow	11
	6.2	Closing Date	11
	6.3	Seller's Delivery of Documents	12
	6.4	City's Delivery of Documents and Funds	13
	6.5	Other Documents	13
	6.6	Title Company as Real Estate Reporting Person	13
7.	EXP	PENSES AND TAXES	14
	7.1	Rent and Other Apportionments	14
	7.2	Real Estate Taxes and Special Assessments	14
	7.3	Closing Costs	14

	7.4	Survival	15
8.	REPR	ESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES	15
	8.1	Representations and Warranties of Seller	15
	8.2	Limitation of Liability	16
	8.3	Representations and Warranties of City	17
9.	RISK	OF LOSS AND POSSESSION	17
	9.1	Risk of Loss	17
	9.2	Insurance	18
	9.3	Possession	18
10.	MAIN	TENANCE; CONSENT TO NEW CONTRACTS	18
	10.1	Maintenance of the Property by Seller	18
	10.2	City's Consent to New Contracts Affecting the Property; Termination of Exist Contracts	
11.	GENE	ERAL PROVISIONS	18
	11.1	Notices	18
	11.2	Brokers and Finders	18
	11.3	Successors and Assigns	19
	11.4	Amendments	19
	11.5	Continuation and Survival of Representations and Warranties	19
	11.6	Governing Law	19
	11.7	Merger of Prior Agreements	19
	11.8	Parties and Their Agents; Approvals	19
	11.9	Interpretation of Agreement; Cooperative Draft	20
	11.10	Attorneys' Fees	20
	11.11	Sunshine Ordinance	20
	11.12	Conflicts of Interest.	21
	11.13	Notification of Prohibition on Contributions	21
	11.14	Non-Liability of City Officials, Employees and Agents	21
	11.15	Counterparts	21
	11.16	Effective Date	22
	11.17	Severability	22

LIST OF EXHIBITS

EXHIBIT A - Real Property Description

EXHIBIT B — Grant Deed

EXHIBIT C - Certificate of Transferor Other Than An Individual (FIRPTA Affidavit)

EXHIBIT D - Assignment of Lease

AGREEMENT OF PURCHASE AND SALE FOR REAL ESTATE

(888 Post Street, San Francisco)

THIS AGREEMENT OF PURCHASE AND SALE FOR REAL ESTATE (this "Agreement") is by and between TC II 888 POST, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Seller"), and the CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO, a municipal corporation ("City").

RECITALS

- A. Seller, as landlord, leases the Property (defined below) to City under the Master Lease dated as of January 13, 2020 (the "Lease"). Any initially capitalized term used in this Agreement but not defined has the meaning given to that term in the Lease.
- B. In Section 22 of the Lease, Seller granted to City an option to purchase the Property (the "Purchase Option").
- C. City exercised its option to purchase under the Purchase Option on May 18, 2021 (the "**Reference Date**") and Seller and City now desire to enter into this Agreement in accordance with Section 22(a) of the Lease.

IN CONSIDERATION of the foregoing the respective rights, obligations, and agreements contained in the Lease and this Agreement, Seller and City agree as follows:

1. PURCHASE AND SALE

1.1 Property Included in Sale

Seller agrees to sell and convey to City, and City agrees to purchase from Seller, subject to the terms, covenants and conditions hereinafter set forth, the following:

- (a) the real property located in the City and County of San Francisco, commonly known as 888 Post Street, Assessor's Parcel Number 0300/009 and more particularly described in the attached Exhibit A (the "Land");
- (b) all improvements and fixtures located on the Land, including, without limitation, that certain 3-story building containing approximately 33,970 rentable square feet and all other structures located on the Land, all apparatus, equipment, and appliances used in connection with the operation or occupancy of the Land and its improvements (collectively, the "Improvements");
- (c) any and all rights, privileges, and easements incidental or appurtenant to the Land or Improvements, including, without limitation, any and all minerals, oil, gas, and other hydrocarbon substances on and under the Land, as well as any and all development rights, air rights, water, water rights, riparian rights and water stock relating to the Land, and any and all easements, rights-of-way or other appurtenances used in connection with the beneficial use and enjoyment of the Land or Improvements, and any and all of Seller's right, title and interest in and

to all roads and alleys adjoining or servicing the Land or Improvements (collectively, the "Appurtenances");

All of the items referred to in <u>Subsections (a)</u>, <u>(b)</u>, and <u>(c)</u> above are collectively referred to as the "**Property**."

2. PURCHASE PRICE

2.1 Purchase Price

The total purchase price for the Property is Twenty-Nine Million Dollars (\$29,000,000) (the "**Purchase Price**").

2.2 Payment

- (a) On the Closing Date (as defined in <u>Section 6.2</u> [Closing Date]), City will pay the Purchase Price in readily available funds, as may be adjusted under <u>Article 7</u> [Expenses and Taxes], and may be reduced by any credits due City as provided in this Agreement.
- **(b)** City may finance the acquisition of the Property with proceeds from the issuance, sale, and delivery of certificates of participation, a financing mechanism that will require fee simple title to be taken in the name of a nominee of City which, as landlord, will lease the Property to City. The nominee, which will be a bank or other fiduciary, will act as trustee for holders of the Certificates of Participation. Seller consents to the use of a nominee to take title, and further consents to City's assignment to the nominee of City's rights under this Agreement. If City elects to finance the acquisition of the Property using certificates of participation, then City's obligations under this Agreement will be contingent upon, and subject to, the successful issuance, sale, and delivery before the Closing of certificates of participation, the proceeds from which will be used to finance acquisition of the Property. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the Closing Date may be extended by the mutual agreement of the parties in writing, provided that neither party will unreasonably withhold its consent to any such extension. City will use reasonable efforts to pursue the sale of the certificates of participation and all other action that is necessary in connection therewith, provided that the terms and conditions of the issuance of such certificates must be acceptable to City, the Board of Supervisors, and the Mayor of the City and County of San Francisco, in their sole discretion. City makes no representation, warranty, or assurance the certificates will be issued, delivered, or sold. Seller agrees to execute and deliver to City upon request any and all certificates, agreements, authorizations, or other documents as City may deem necessary or appropriate in connection with the issuance, delivery, and sale of the certificates of participation in a form reasonably acceptable to Seller. If this Agreement is terminated due to (i) failure of any issuance, sale, and delivery of certificates of participation; (ii) failure to obtain approvals from the Board of Supervisors and the Mayor of the City and County of San Francisco; or (iii) City's default under this Agreement, City will pay Seller within thirty (30) days of demand for all actual out-of-pocket costs, expenses, and fees Seller incurred in connection with City's exercise of the Purchase Option under the Lease and this Agreement, which obligation will survive termination of this Agreement.

Escrow the documents required under Sections 6.3(c) and 6.3(e) [Seller's Delivery of Documents], City may be required to withhold a portion of the Purchase Price under Section 1445 of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Federal Tax Code"), or Section 18662 of the California Revenue and Taxation Code. Any amount properly withheld will be deemed to have been paid by City as part of the Purchase Price, and Seller's obligation to consummate the transaction contemplated under this Agreement will not be excused or otherwise affected by the withholding.

2.3 Funds

All payments made by either party must be in legal tender of the United States of America, paid in cash or by wire transfer of immediately available funds to Title Company (as defined in Section 3.2 [Title Insurance; Title and Survey Review]), as Escrow agent.

3. TITLE TO THE PROPERTY; TITLE INSURANCE

3.1 Conveyance of the Property

At the Closing Seller will convey to City, or its nominee, marketable and insurable fee simple title to the Land, the Improvements and the Appurtenances, by duly executed and acknowledged grant deed in the form attached as <u>Exhibit C</u> (the "**Deed**"), subject to the Permitted Exceptions (as defined in Section 3.2 [Title Insurance; Title and Survey Review]).

3.2 Title Insurance; Title and Survey Review

- (a) Delivery of title in accordance with the preceding Section will be evidenced by the commitment of Chicago Title Insurance Company (the "Title Company") to issue to City, or its nominee, an ALTA extended coverage owner's policy of title insurance (Form ALTA 2006) (the "Title Policy") in the amount of the Purchase Price, insuring fee simple title to the Property in City, or its nominee, free of the liens of any and all deeds of trust, mortgages, assignments of rents, financing statements, rights of tenants or other occupants (except for City's rights under the Lease and of any subtenants under City subleases), and subject to Permitted Exceptions. The Title Policy must provide full coverage against mechanics' and materialmen's liens arising out of the construction, repair, or alteration of any of the Property not caused by City or its subtenants, and contain an affirmative endorsement that there are no violations of restrictive covenants, if any, affecting the Property, and any endorsements as City may reasonably request. The Title Policy will also provide for reinsurance with direct access with such companies and in such amounts as City may reasonably request. Seller will cooperate with City in connection with a mechanics' lien certification to allow City to obtain the Title Policy, but, if, despite Seller's cooperation, Title Company does not deliver the Title Policy, then Seller will not be in default under this Agreement.
- (i) Within five (5) business days after the date City and Seller execute this Agreement, Seller will cause the Title Company to deliver to City a current extended coverage preliminary report on the Real Property, issued by Title Company, accompanied by copies of all documents referred to in the report (collectively, the "Preliminary Report");

- (ii) Within the period referred to in <u>clause (i)</u> above, Seller will deliver to City copies of any existing or proposed easements, covenants, restrictions, agreements or other documents that affect the Property, and are not disclosed by the Preliminary Report, or, if Seller knows of no such documents, a written certification of Seller to that effect; and
- (iii) City may at its option arrange for an "as-built" survey of the Real Property and Improvements prepared by a licensed surveyor (the "Survey"). The survey must be acceptable to, and certified to, City and Title Company and in sufficient detail to provide the basis for and the Title Policy without boundary, encroachment, or survey exceptions.
- Within forty-five (45) days after City's receipt of the Preliminary Report, City will advise Seller what exceptions to title, if any, City is willing to accept (the "Permitted Exceptions"). City's failure to so advise Seller within that period will be deemed disapproval of title, and this Agreement will terminate. Seller will have ten (10) business days after receipt of City's notice of any objections to title to give City notice that: (i) Seller will remove the objectionable exceptions from title on or before the Closing; or (ii) Seller will not to cause any exceptions to be removed; or (iii) which of the objectionable exceptions that Seller will remove on or before the Closing. If Seller does not provide City notice, then Seller will be deemed to have elected not to remove any objectionable exceptions. If Seller gives notice under clauses (ii) or (iii), City will have five (5) business days to elect to proceed with the purchase notwithstanding such objectionable exceptions that Seller will not cause to be removed (in which case such exceptions will be deemed to be Permitted Exceptions) or and terminate this Agreement. If City fails to give Seller notice of its election within five (5) business days, City will be deemed to have elected to proceed with the purchase of the Property. If Seller gives notice pursuant to clauses (i) or (iii) and fails to remove any such objectionable exceptions from title before the Closing Date that Seller agreed to remove, and City is unwilling to take title subject to the unremoved exception(s), Seller will be in default under this Agreement and City will have the rights and remedies provided in this Agreement or at law or in equity. If Seller requires additional time to remove a title exception identified by City, the Closing Date may be postponed for up to thirty (30) days upon request by Seller to allow Seller to remove such title exception.

4. BUYER'S DUE DILIGENCE INVESTIGATIONS

4.1 Due Diligence and Time for Satisfaction of Conditions

(a) During the Due Diligence Period (defined below) City will have a full opportunity to investigate the Property at its sole cost and expense, either independently or through agents of City's own choosing, including, without limitation, the opportunity to conduct such appraisals, inspections, tests, audits, verifications, inventories, investigations and other due diligence regarding the economic, physical, environmental, title and legal conditions of the Property as City deems fit, as well as the suitability of the Property for City's intended uses. City may perform invasive or destructive testing, each of which will be considered an "Alteration" under the Lease requiring Seller's prior written consent. If the transaction contemplated under this Agreement is not consummated for any reason, City will promptly repair any damage caused by invasive or destructive testing at City's expense. City and its Agents may commence due diligence investigations on the Property on or after the Reference Date. The period for

completion of all City's investigations will expire on the date that is sixty (60) days after the Reference Date (the "**Due Diligence Period**"), subject to the terms and conditions provided in this Agreement. City may terminate this Agreement by written notice to Seller at any time before the expiration of the Due Diligence Period. Except as provided in <u>Article 3</u> [Title to the Property; Title Insurance], unless City terminates this Agreement by written notice to Seller on or before the expiration of the Due Diligence Period, City will be obligated to purchase from Seller and Seller will be obligated to sell and convey to City the Property for the Purchase Price and on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.

- Seller has delivered or will deliver to City the following documents, all to **(b)** the extent such documents exist, have not previously been delivered to City under the Lease, and are either in the possession or reasonable control of Seller, or any affiliate of Seller, or may be obtained by Seller, through the exercise of commercially reasonable efforts: (i) within ten (10) business days after the Reference Date, structural calculations for the Improvements; site plans; certified copies of the as-built plans and specifications for the Improvements; recent inspection reports by Seller's engineers; service contracts; utility contracts; maintenance contracts; employment contracts, management contracts; certificates of occupancy; presently effective warranties or guaranties received by Seller from any contractors, subcontractors, suppliers, or materialmen in connection with any construction, repair, or alteration of the Improvements or any tenant improvements; insurance policies, insurance certificates of tenants, and reports of insurance carriers insuring the Property and each portion thereof respecting the claims history of the Property; environmental reports, studies, surveys, tests, and assessments; and soils and geotechnical reports (collectively, the "Documents"); and (ii) within ten (10) business days after written request by City, any other reasonable information relating to the Property that is specifically requested by City of Seller in writing during the Due Diligence Period (collectively, the "Other Information"). If Seller fails to deliver all of the Documents and Other Information within the 10-business day delivery period, then provided City provides Seller with a written list of the missing Documents and Other Information within three (3) business days following expiration of the 10-day period, the expiration of the Due Diligence Period will be extended by the number of days after the end of the ten (10)-business day delivery period until Seller delivers the items in the written list to City.
- (c) Seller discloses to City that natural hazards described in the following California code sections (the "Natural Hazard Laws") may affect the Property: (A) Govt. Code Section 8589.3 (Special Flood Hazard Area); (B) Govt. Code Section 8589.4 (Inundation Area); (C) Govt. Code Section 51183.5 (Fire Hazard Severity Zone); (D) Public Resource Code Section 2621.9 (Earthquake Fault Zone); (E) Public Resource Code Section 2694 (Seismic Hazard Zone); and (F) Public Resource Code Section 4136 (Wildland Area). Seller may execute and deliver to City a separate Natural Hazards Disclosure Statement with respect to the foregoing matters (the "Natural Hazards Disclosure Statement").
- (d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, Seller will not be required to provide, copy or make available to City any internal memoranda, appraisals and valuation reports, and similar information or information covered by the attorney-client privilege. Seller makes no representation or warranty in respect of any Documents or Other Information (including the accuracy or completeness thereof) provided by Seller, and City acknowledges that no representations or warranties, either express or implied, were made by

Seller with respect to any Documents or Other Information. To the extent any person or entity, other than Seller, including any surveyors, appraisers, title agents, tenants, escrow agent, attorneys, engineering consultants or environmental consultants, made any representations or warranties or any other statements (verbal or written) to City, or provided any documents, reports, studies, information or other materials, City acknowledges it will have no claim or right of action against Seller arising therefrom, nor any right to rescind, revoke, or terminate this Agreement on account thereof.

- (e) Seller will cooperate with City, at no out-of-pocket cost to Seller, and do all acts as may be reasonably requested by City with regard to its due diligence including, without limitation, execution of any documents, applications, or permits. Seller irrevocably authorizes City and its Agents to make all inquiries with and applications to any person or entity, including, without limitation, any regulatory authority with jurisdiction as City may reasonably require to complete its due diligence investigations. Notwithstanding anything in this subsection (e) to the contrary, in no event will City do any acts, without limitation, filing any documents, applications, or permits, or make any applications that will be binding on Seller or the Property in the event that Closing does not occur, but City will have no liability or obligation to Seller due to the acts of any regulatory authority regarding any existing conditions at the Property.
- (f) During the Due Diligence Period, City will advise Seller of the contracts or agreements that it will require to be assigned to, and assumed by, City at Closing (the "Assumed Contracts"). At or before the Closing, Seller will terminate any contracts or agreements not to be assumed by City, without liability to City.
- (g) For the avoidance of doubt, the City's indemnity obligations under Section 16.1 of the Lease remain in full force and effect and apply to City's activities under this Agreement to the extent and for the period stated in that Section 16.1.
- (h) If this Agreement is terminated for any reason other than Seller's default and Seller requests copies of any reports relating to the Property provided to City by third parties that are not subject to privilege ("City Reports"), then City will deliver copies via email of the City Reports (without any warranty of any kind) to Seller within ten (10) business days after receipt of Seller's request. If Seller requests printed copies or electronic copies on portable media of any City Reports, then City will provide the copies at Seller's cost. City's obligation to deliver the City Reports will survive any termination of this Agreements.
- (i) Before the expiration of the Due Diligence Period, City will advise Seller whether or not City has received the Resolution and Approvals. If City does not so advise Seller, then after the expiration of the Due Diligence Period and continuing until City receives the Resolution and Approvals, Seller may terminate this Agreement on written notice to City.

4.2 As Is Sale; Waiver and Release

(a) The Property is being sold, and City is accepting possession of the Property on the Closing Date, "AS IS, WHERE IS, WITH ALL FAULTS," with no right of setoff or reduction in the Purchase Price except for Seller's representations and warranties set forth in this Agreement that expressly survive the Closing and instruments executed by Seller at

Closing (the "Seller's Warranties"). Except for Seller's Warranties, neither Seller nor any Seller Agent will have or shall be deemed to have made any verbal or written representations, warranties, promises, or guarantees (whether express, implied, statutory or otherwise) to City with respect to the Property, any matter set forth, contained or addressed in the Documents or Other Information (including, but not limited to, the accuracy and completeness thereof) or the results of the investigations.

- AS OF CLOSING, CITY WILL HAVE HAD THE OPPORTUNITY TO CONDUCT **(b)** TESTING AND INSPECTIONS TO CONFIRM INDEPENDENTLY ALL INFORMATION THAT CITY CONSIDERS MATERIAL TO ITS PURCHASE OF THE PROPERTY OR THE TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT. EXCEPT FOR SELLER'S WARRANTIES, CITY IS NOT RELYING ON (AND SELLER AND EACH OF THE SELLER'S AGENTS) PARTIES DOES HEREBY DISCLAIM AND RENOUNCE) ANY REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND OR NATURE WHATSOEVER, WHETHER ORAL OR WRITTEN, EXPRESS, IMPLIED, STATUTORY, OR OTHERWISE, FROM SELLER OR THE SELLER'S AGENTS, AS TO: (I) THE OPERATION OF THE PROPERTY OR THE INCOME POTENTIAL, USES, OR MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS OF ANY PORTION OF THE PROPERTY FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE; (II) THE PHYSICAL CONDITION WHETHER VISIBLE OR NOT, OF THE PROPERTY OR THE CONDITION OR SAFETY OF THE PROPERTY OR ANY IMPROVEMENTS THEREON, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, PLUMBING, SEWER, HEATING, VENTILATING, AND AIR CONDITIONING, LIFE SAFETY, BUILDING MANAGEMENT, VERTICAL TRANSPORTATION, AND ELECTRICAL SYSTEMS, ROOFING, FOUNDATIONS, SOILS AND GEOLOGY, INCLUDING HAZARDOUS MATERIALS, LOT SIZE, OR SUITABILITY OF THE PROPERTY OR ANY IMPROVEMENTS THEREON FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE; (III) THE PRESENCE OR ABSENCE, LOCATION OR SCOPE OF ANY HAZARDOUS MATERIALS IN, AT, OR UNDER THE PROPERTY; (IV) WHETHER THE APPLIANCES, IF ANY, PLUMBING OR UTILITIES ARE IN WORKING ORDER; (V) THE HABITABILITY OR SUITABILITY FOR OCCUPANCY OF ANY STRUCTURE AND THE QUALITY OF ITS CONSTRUCTION; (VI) WHETHER THE IMPROVEMENTS ARE STRUCTURALLY SOUND, IN GOOD CONDITION, OR IN COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE MUNICIPAL, COUNTY, STATE OR FEDERAL STATUTES, CODES OR ORDINANCES; (VII) THE ACCURACY OF ANY STATEMENTS, CALCULATIONS, OR CONDITIONS STATED OR SET FORTH IN SELLER'S BOOKS AND RECORDS CONCERNING THE PROPERTY OR SET FORTH IN THE DILIGENCE DOCUMENTS OR ANY OF SELLER'S OFFERING MATERIALS WITH RESPECT TO THE PROPERTY; (VIII) THE DIMENSIONS OF THE PROPERTY OR THE ACCURACY OF ANY FLOOR PLANS, SQUARE FOOTAGE, LEASE ABSTRACTS, SKETCHES, REVENUE OR EXPENSE PROJECTIONS RELATED TO THE PROPERTY; (IX) THE OPERATING PERFORMANCE, THE INCOME AND EXPENSES OF THE PROPERTY OR THE ECONOMIC STATUS OF THE PROPERTY; (X) THE ABILITY OF CITY TO OBTAIN ANY AND ALL NECESSARY GOVERNMENTAL APPROVALS OR PERMITS FOR CITY'S INTENDED USE AND DEVELOPMENT OF THE PROPERTY; (XI) THE LEASING STATUS OF THE PROPERTY OR THE INTENTIONS OF ANY PARTIES WITH RESPECT TO THE NEGOTIATION AND/OR EXECUTION OF ANY LEASE FOR ANY PORTION OF THE PROPERTY; AND (XII) SELLER'S OWNERSHIP OF ANY PORTION OF THE PROPERTY.
- (c) AS OF CLOSING, CITY, FOR CITY AND CITY'S SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS, RELEASES SELLER AND SELLER'S AGENTS, AND THEIR SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS FROM, AND WAIVES ALL CLAIMS AND LIABILITY, INCLUDING ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITY (DEFINED BELOW), AGAINST SELLER AND SELLER'S AGENTS, AND THEIR SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS FOR OR ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE FOLLOWING:

- (i) ANY AND ALL STATEMENTS OR OPINIONS MADE BEFORE OR AFTER THE DATE OF THIS AGREEMENT, OR INFORMATION FURNISHED, BY THEM TO CITY OR ITS AGENTS OR REPRESENTATIVES RELATING TO THE PROPERTY, EXCEPT FOR SELLER'S WARRANTIES; AND
- (ii) ANY STRUCTURAL, PHYSICAL, OR ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITION AT THE PROPERTY, INCLUDING, CLAIMS OR LIABILITIES RELATING TO THE PRESENCE, DISCOVERY OR REMOVAL OF ANY HAZARDOUS MATERIALS IN, AT, ABOUT OR UNDER THE PROPERTY, OR FOR, CONNECTED WITH, OR ARISING OUT OF ANY AND ALL CLAIMS OR CAUSES OF ACTION BASED UPON ENVIRONMENTAL LAW (DEFINED BELOW).
- (d) THE ABOVE RELEASE BY CITY INCLUDES CLAIMS OF WHICH CITY IS PRESENTLY UNAWARE OR THAT CITY DOES NOT PRESENTLY SUSPECT TO EXIST WHICH, IF KNOWN BY CITY, WOULD MATERIALLY AFFECT CITY'S RELEASE OF SELLER AND THE SELLER'S AGENTS. CITY SPECIFICALLY WAIVES ALL RIGHTS UNDER CALIFORNIA CIVIL CODE SECTION 1542 AND ANY STATE OR FEDERAL LAW OF SIMILAR EFFECT. CIVIL CODE SECTION 1542 PROVIDES AS FOLLOWS:

A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS THAT THE CREDITOR OR RELEASING PARTY DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS OR HER FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE AND THAT, IF KNOWN BY HIM OR HER, WOULD HAVE MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS OR HER SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR OR RELEASED PARTY.

- (e) THE FOREGOING PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION WILL NOT SERVE TO RELEASE SELLER FROM, AND NO RELEASE IN THIS SECTION APPLIES TO, AND CITY EXPRESSLY DOES NOT WAIVE (A) SELLER'S FRAUD, (B) ANY MATERIAL BREACH OF ANY SELLER'S WARRANTIES, OR (C) WITH RESPECT TO ANY CLAIM MADE BY ANY THIRD PARTY AGAINST CITY WITH RESPECT TO THE PROPERTY ARISING DURING SELLER'S OWNERSHIP OF THE PROPERTY, AND PROVIDED THAT SUCH CLAIM IS NOT WITHIN THE SCOPE OF CITY'S INDEMNIFICATION OF SELLER AS LANDLORD UNDER THE LEASE.
- **(f)** CITY ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT IT HAS BEEN REPRESENTED BY LEGAL COUNSEL OF ITS CHOICE IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT, AND THAT SUCH COUNSEL HAS EXPLAINED TO CITY THE PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION 4.2.
 - (g) This Section 4.2 will survive the Closing.
- (h) "Environmental Law" means any international, federal, state, local or foreign statute, law, ordinance, regulation, rule, code, order, consent decree or judgment, in each case in existence as of the Closing Date, relating to or regulating human health or safety, or industrial hygiene or environmental conditions or protection of the environment, or pollution or contamination of the air, soil, surface water or groundwater, and includes the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976, the Toxic Substances Control Act, the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, the Safe Drinking Water Act, the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, the Oil Pollution Act of 1990 and any state laws implementing the foregoing federal laws. "Environmental Liability" means any claim, demand, order, suit, obligation, liability, cost

(including, the cost of any investigation, testing, compliance or remedial action), consequential damages, loss or expense (including attorneys' and consultants' fees and expenses) arising out of, relating to or resulting from any Environmental Law or environmental, health or safety matter or condition, including natural resources, and related in any way to the Property or to this Agreement or its subject matter, in each case, whether arising or incurred before, on or after the Closing Date. "Hazardous Materials" means (i) any petroleum, petroleum products, byproducts or breakdown products, radioactive materials, asbestos-containing materials or polychlorinated biphenyls, (ii) any chemical, material or substance defined or regulated as toxic or hazardous or as a pollutant, contaminant or waste under any Environmental Law or any Mold or Mold Condition. "Release" means any spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying, discharging, injecting, escaping, leaching, dumping or disposing into the environment, including continuing migration, of Hazardous Materials into or through soil, surface water or groundwater. "Mold" means mold, mildew, fungus or other potentially dangerous organisms. "Mold Condition" means the presence of Mold or any condition(s) that reasonably can be expected to indicate the presence of Mold, including observed discoloration of walls, ceilings or floors, complaints received within the last six (6) months of respiratory ailment or eye irritation by tenants, employees or any other occupants or invitees in the Property or any notice from a governmental agency of complaints regarding the indoor air quality at the Property.

5. CONDITIONS TO CLOSING

5.1 City's Conditions to Closing

The following are conditions precedent to City's obligation to purchase the Property (collectively, "City Conditions Precedent"):

- (a) Title to the Property is in the same condition as approved by City under <u>Article 3</u>[Title to the Property; Title Insurance] (subject to any change in the condition of title to the Property caused by City or its subtenants, and anyone acting by or through them).
- **(b)** Seller is not in material default in the performance of any covenant or agreement to be performed by Seller under this Agreement or the Lease.
- (c) All of Seller's representations and warranties contained in or made pursuant to Section 8.1 of this Agreement were true and correct when made and are true and correct as of the Closing. At the Closing, Seller will deliver to City a certificate certifying that each of Seller's representations and warranties contained in <u>Section 8.1</u> [Representations and Warranties of Seller] below are true and correct as of the Closing Date.
- (d) As of the Closing Date, there is no litigation or administrative agency or other governmental proceeding, pending or threatened that, after the Closing, would materially adversely affect the value of the Property or the ability of City to operate the Property for its intended use.
- **(e)** Title Company is committed at the Closing to issue to City, or its nominee, the Title Policy as provided in <u>Section 3.2</u> [Title Insurance; Title and Survey Review].
 - (f) City has received the Resolution and Approvals.

- **(g)** Seller has delivered the items described in <u>Section 6.3</u> [Seller's Delivery of Documents] below on or before the Closing.
- **(h)** Title Company has agreed to be the real estate reporting person for the Closing in compliance with the Reporting Requirements (as defined in <u>Section 6.6</u> [Title Company as Real Estate Reporting Person] below).

5.2 Satisfaction or Waiver of City Conditions

The City Conditions Precedent contained in the foregoing Sections 5.1(a) through 5.1(h) are solely for the benefit of City. If any Condition Precedent is not satisfied, City will have the right in its sole discretion either to waive in writing the Condition Precedent in question and proceed with the purchase or, in the alternative, terminate this Agreement, provided that the City Conditions Precedent described in items Sections 5.1(e) and 5.1(g) above may not be waived. The Closing Date may be extended, at City's option, for a reasonable period of time specified by City (but not beyond the Outside Closing Date), to allow the City Conditions Precedent to be satisfied, subject to City's further right to terminate this Agreement upon the expiration of the period of any such extension if all such City Conditions Precedent have not been satisfied.

5.3 Seller's Conditions to Closing

The following are conditions precedent to Seller's obligation to purchase the Property (collectively, "Seller Conditions Precedent"):

- (a) City is not in default in the performance of any covenant or agreement to be performed by City this Agreement.
- **(b)** City has delivered the items and funds described in <u>Section 6.4</u> below [City's Delivery of Documents and Funds] on or before the Closing and Title Company has agreed to release the full Purchase Price, as adjusted pursuant to this Agreement, to Seller at Closing.
- (c) Title Company has agreed to be the real estate reporting person for the Closing in compliance with the Reporting Requirements.

5.4 Satisfaction or Waiver of Seller Conditions

The Seller Conditions Precedent contained in the foregoing Sections 5.3(a) through 5.3(c) are solely for the benefit of Seller. If any Seller Condition Precedent is not satisfied, Seller will have the right in its sole discretion either to waive in writing the Seller Condition Precedent in question and proceed with the purchase or, in the alternative, terminate this Agreement. The Closing Date may be extended, at Seller's option, for a reasonable period of time specified by Seller (but not beyond the Outside Closing Date), to allow the Seller Conditions Precedent to be satisfied, subject to Seller's further right to terminate this Agreement upon the expiration of the period of any such extension if all such Seller Conditions Precedent have not been satisfied.

5.5 Seller Default

If the sale of the Property is not consummated because of a material default under this Agreement on the part of Seller or if a Condition Precedent cannot be fulfilled because Seller frustrated such fulfillment by some affirmative act or negligent omission, City may, at its sole election, either (1) terminate this Agreement by delivery of notice of termination to Seller, whereupon Seller will pay to City any out-of-pocket title, escrow, legal, and inspection fees incurred by City and any other reasonable and actual out-of-pocket expenses incurred by City in connection with the performance of its due diligence review of the Property, and neither party will have any further rights or obligations under this Agreement, or (2) continue this Agreement pending City's action for specific performance and/or damages under this Agreement, including, without limitation, City's reasonably incurred actual out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred under this Agreement up to an aggregate amount of One Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$100,000). Seller will not be liable for consequential, incidental, special, or punitive damages, whether in contract, tort or under any other legal or equitable principle. City shall be deemed to have elected to terminate this Agreement if City fails to file suit for specific performance against Seller in a court of competent jurisdiction, on or before the date that is sixty (60) days following the date upon which Closing was to have occurred. City waives any right to record a *lis pendens* on the Property unless City sues for specific performance, as permitted under this Section. If City sues for specific performance and prevails, then City will be entitled to offset the Purchase Price in the amount of Base Rent and any other Additional Charges in excess of the actual amounts necessary to reimburse Seller for the costs of Real Estate Taxes, Seller's Insurance, and Additional Services paid by City between the date that the Closing Date would have occurred but for Seller's default and the actual Closing Date.

5.6 City Default

If the purchase and sale of the Property is not completed in accordance with this Agreement because City defaults under or materially breaches this Agreement, Seller shall be entitled to terminate this Agreement and upon termination, City shall reimburse Seller for its reasonably incurred, actual out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred under this Agreement.

6. ESCROW AND CLOSING

6.1 Opening of Escrow

On or about the Reference Date, City will open escrow ("Escrow") by depositing this Agreement with Title Company, and this Agreement will serve as instructions to Title Company as the Escrow holder for consummation of the purchase and sale of the Property. Seller and City will execute any additional or supplementary instructions as may be appropriate to enable the Escrow holder to comply with the terms of this Agreement and close the transaction; provided, however, that in the event of any conflict between the provisions of this Agreement and any additional or supplementary instructions, the terms of this Agreement will control.

6.2 Closing Date

The consummation of the purchase and sale of the Property contemplated by this Agreement (the "Closing", and the date on which Closing occurs, the "Closing Date") will

occur on a date that is thirty (30) days following expiration of the Due Diligence Period, and must occur on or before August 1, 2022 (the "Outside Closing Date"), time being of the essence; provided that Seller may elect to close on a date that is later than thirty (30) days following expiration of the Due Diligence Period and earlier than the Outside Closing Date upon written notice to City. If Seller elects to so extend the Closing, the Rent under the Lease will be prorated under Section 7.1(a) as of the date the Closing would have occurred if Seller had not extended. Before the Closing Date, Seller and City will each deposit in Escrow all documents and funds necessary to close the purchase and sale, together with escrow instructions consistent with this Section.

The Closing will be held and delivery of all items to be made at the Closing under the terms of this Agreement will be made at the offices of Title Company located at One Embarcadero Center, Suite 250, San Francisco, CA 94111, San Francisco, California, subject to the provisions of Article 5 [Conditions to Closing]. The Closing Date may not be extended without the prior written approval of both Seller and City, except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement.

If Closing does not occur by the Outside Closing Date, the parties have not agreed to extend the Closing Date, and the delay is not caused by the wrongful action or default of Seller or Seller's lender or Agents, Seller at its option, in its sole discretion, may elect to terminate this Agreement or extend the Outside Closing Date upon written notice to City and the Title Company, in which case this Agreement will terminate, except for provisions that by their terms survive such termination, and the parties will instruct the Title Company to return to the depositor items deposited into Escrow. Any such return will not, however, limit the provisions hereof or otherwise relieve either party of any liability it may have for its wrongful failure to close.

6.3 Seller's Delivery of Documents

At or before the Closing, Seller will deliver to City, or the nominee, through Escrow, the following:

- (a) a duly executed and acknowledged Deed;
- **(b)** any available originals of the Documents, Assumed Contracts, and any other items relating to the ownership or operation of the Property not previously delivered to City;
- (c) an executed assignment of Lease with respect to the Lease in the form attached hereto as Exhibit D;
- (d) a properly executed affidavit pursuant to Section 1445(b)(2) of the Federal Tax Code in the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit C</u>, and on which City is entitled to rely, that Seller is not a "foreign person" within the meaning of Section 1445(f)(3) of the Federal Tax Code;
- (e) a properly executed California Franchise Tax Board Form 590 or 593, as appropriate;

- (f) such resolutions, authorizations, or other entity documents or agreements relating to Seller and its members as the Title Company may reasonably require to demonstrate the authority of Seller to enter into this Agreement and consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, and such proof of the power and authority of the individuals executing any documents or other instruments on behalf of Seller to act for and bind Seller;
- (g) closing statement prepared by Title Company in form and content satisfactory to Seller; and
- **(h)** the duly executed certificate regarding the continued accuracy of Seller's representations and warranties as required by <u>Section 5.1(c)</u> above.

6.4 City's Delivery of Documents and Funds

At or before the Closing, City, or the nominee, will deliver to Seller through Escrow the following:

- (a) an acceptance of the Deed executed by City's Director of Property;
- **(b)** a signed assignment of Lease with respect to the Lease in the form attached hereto as Exhibit D;
- (c) a closing statement prepared by Title Company in form and content satisfactory to City; and
- (d) the Purchase Price, as provided in <u>Article 2</u> above; provided, however, that if Seller has a payment obligation to City as landlord under the Lease, then City may elect for such amounts to be applied as a credit to City against the Purchase Price.

6.5 Other Documents

Seller and City will each deposit such other instruments as are reasonably required by Title Company as Escrow holder or otherwise required to close the Escrow and consummate the purchase of the Property in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

6.6 Title Company as Real Estate Reporting Person

Section 6045(e) of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and the regulations promulgated thereunder (collectively, the "Reporting Requirements") require that certain information be made to the United States Internal Revenue Service, and a statement to be furnished to Seller, in connection with the Closing. Seller and City agree that if the Closing occurs, Title Company will be the party responsible for closing the transaction contemplated in this Agreement and is hereby designated as the real estate reporting person (as defined in the Reporting Requirements) for such transaction. Title Company will perform all duties required of the real estate reporting person for the Closing under the Reporting Requirements, and Seller and City will each timely furnish Title Company with any information reasonably requested by Title Company and necessary for the performance of its duties under the Reporting Requirements with respect to the Closing.

7. EXPENSES AND TAXES

7.1 Rent and Other Apportionments

The following are to be apportioned through Escrow as of the Closing Date:

(a) Rent

Rent under the Lease will be prorated as of the Closing Date.

- **(b)** Assumed Contracts
- **(c)** To the extent charges under the Assumed Contracts are not already paid for by City as tenant under the Lease, amounts payable under any Assumed Contracts will be apportioned as of the Closing Date.
 - (d) Seller's Insurance & Additional Services

Seller's Insurance and any Additional Services that are not Assumed Contracts will be apportioned as of the Closing Date.

(e) At least five (5) days before the Closing, Seller will provide to City for verification a draft proration schedule and reasonably necessary supporting information. Seller and City will use best efforts to finalize as many items on such proration schedule as possible before the Closing. Seller will provide the Title Company with the Closing prorations for the Property to include in the closing statements. If any of the costs or expenses to be prorated cannot be finally determined as of the Closing, then Seller and City will include reasonable estimates of those costs and expenses and reconcile the prorations as soon as possible after the Closing Date, but in no event later than sixty (60) days after the Closing Date. If no reconciliation of the estimated proration occurs within sixty (60) days after the Closing Date, then the estimated prorations will be deemed final.

7.2 Real Estate Taxes and Special Assessments

General real estate taxes and special assessments payable for the tax year of Closing shall be adjusted with Seller paying for the period prior to Closing and City paying for the period after the Closing and with Seller paying for all prior years, including without limitation, interest and penalties payable thereon.

7.3 Closing Costs

City will pay the cost of the Survey, the premium for the Title Policy and the cost of any endorsements, and any transfer taxes applicable to the sale. Seller and City will share equally Escrow and recording fees. Seller will be responsible for all costs incurred in connection with the prepayment or satisfaction of any loan, bond, or other indebtedness secured by the Property including, without limitation, any prepayment fees, penalties, or charges. Any other costs and charges of the Escrow for the sale not otherwise provided for in this Section or elsewhere in this

Agreement will be allocated in accordance with the closing customs for San Francisco County, as determined by Title Company.

7.4 Survival

The provisions of this Section will survive the Closing.

8. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

8.1 Representations and Warranties of Seller

Seller represents and warrants to, and covenants with, City as follows:

- (a) The Assumed Contracts and Lease furnished to City are true, correct and complete copies of such documents. To Seller's actual knowledge, Seller has not received any written notice from any service provider alleging that the Seller is in material default under the Assumed Contracts, and to Seller's actual knowledge, Seller is not in default under the Lease.
- **(b)** Seller does not have actual knowledge of any condemnation, either instituted or planned to be instituted by any governmental or quasi-governmental agency other than City, which could detrimentally affect the use, operation or value of the Property.
- (c) To Seller's actual knowledge, there are no easements or rights of way that are not of record with respect to the Property, and to Seller's actual knowledge no easements, rights of way, permits, licenses or other forms of agreement that afford third parties the right to traverse any portion of the Property to gain access to other real property. To Seller's knowledge, there are no ongoing claims or disputes with regard to the location of any fence or other monument of the Property's boundary.
- (d) To Seller's actual knowledge, there is no litigation pending or threatened, against Seller or any basis therefor that arises out of the ownership of the Property or that might detrimentally affect the use or operation of the Property for its intended purpose or the value of the Property or the ability of Seller to perform its obligations under this Agreement.
- **(e)** Seller has not granted any option or right of first refusal or first opportunity to any third party to acquire any interest in any of the Property other than to City pursuant to the Lease.
- (f) Seller is a limited liability company, duly formed, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of California. Seller has the full power and authority to enter into this Agreement and perform its obligations under this Agreement.
- **(g)** This Agreement is a legal, valid and binding obligation of Seller, enforceable against Seller in accordance with its terms, subject to the effect of applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, arrangement, moratorium or other similar laws affecting the rights of creditors generally, or general principles of equity.

- (h) Seller (i) is not in receivership or dissolution; (ii) has not made any assignment for the benefit of creditors; (iii) has not admitted in writing its inability to pay its debts as they mature; (iv) has not been adjudicated a bankrupt; (v) has not filed a petition in voluntary bankruptcy, a petition or answer seeking reorganization, or an arrangement with creditors under the Federal Bankruptcy Law or any other similar law or statute of the United States or any state, or (vi) does not have any such petition described in clause (v) above filed against Seller.
- (i) Seller represents and warrants to City that it has not been suspended, disciplined, or disbarred by, or prohibited from contracting with, any federal, state or local governmental agency. If Seller has been so suspended, disbarred, disciplined, or prohibited from contracting with any governmental agency, it will immediately notify the City together the reasons therefor and with any relevant facts or information requested by City. Any such suspension, debarment, discipline, or prohibition may result in the termination or suspension of this Agreement.
- (j) At the time of Closing there will be no outstanding written or oral contracts made by Seller for any of the Improvements that have not been fully paid for and Seller will cause to be discharged all mechanics' or materialmen's liens arising from any labor or materials furnished to the Property at Seller's request prior to the time of Closing.
- (k) Seller has not dealt with any real estate broker or finder in connection with the sale of the Property to City or this Agreement.
- (I) Seller is not a "foreign person" within the meaning of Section 1445(f)(3) of the Federal Tax Code.

As used in this Agreement, "to Seller's knowledge," "to Seller's actual knowledge," "to the knowledge of Seller," and similar phrases mean to the current actual knowledge of Craig Young and Ross Stackhouse, without any duty of independent investigation or inquiry. Seller represents and warrants the forgoing named individual is the persons most likely to have actual knowledge of the Property. Actual knowledge will not be deemed to exist merely by assertion by City of a claim that any of the foregoing persons should have known of such facts or circumstances, if such person did not have actual knowledge thereof. City acknowledges that the individuals named above are named solely for the purpose of defining and narrowing the scope of Seller's knowledge and not for the purpose of imposing any liability on or creating any duties running from such individuals to City. City covenants that it will bring no action of any kind against such individuals, related to or arising out of these representations and warranties.

8.2 Limitation of Liability

If the Closing occurs, (a) the aggregate liability of Seller arising pursuant to or in connection with the Seller's Warranties may not exceed Five Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$500,000) ("**Liability Limitation**"), absent fraud or intentional misrepresentation by Seller, and (b) no claim by City alleging a breach by Seller of any of Seller's Warranties may be made, and Seller will not be liable for any judgment in any action based upon any such claim, (i) unless the City tenders the claim to Seller in writing during the Survival Period, and (ii) unless and until

such claim, either alone or together with any other claims by City alleging a breach by Seller of any of Seller's Warranties, is for an aggregate amount in excess of Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000) ("Floor Amount"), in which event Seller's liability for such claim or claims shall be for the entire amount thereof, subject to the Liability Limitation; provided, however, that if any final judgment is for an amount that is less than or equal to the applicable Floor Amount, then Seller will have no liability with respect thereto. In addition, to the extent that City or its affiliates obtain knowledge before the Closing that any representation or warranty of Seller was untrue when made in any material respect, and City elects to close the transaction contemplated by this Agreement, City will be deemed to have waived its rights to recover damages from Seller following the Closing, unless the parties agree otherwise in a written agreement.

8.3 Representations and Warranties of City

City represents and warrants that City has not dealt with any real estate broker or finder in connection with the purchase of the Property from Seller or this Agreement.

9. RISK OF LOSS AND POSSESSION

9.1 Risk of Loss

- (a) If before the Closing Date any portion of the Property is damaged or destroyed or if condemnation proceedings are commenced against any portion of the Property by any entity other than City, then the rights and obligations of City and Seller under this Agreement are as follows:
- (except for the deductible amount, which Seller will be responsible for), and the insurer agrees to timely pay for the entire cost of the repair, then City will proceed with the Closing. In that case, City will receive a credit against the Purchase Price equal to the deductible amount, and Seller will assign to City at the Closing all of Seller's right, title, and interest in and to all proceeds of insurance on account of the damage or destruction under an instrument satisfactory to City.
- (ii) If the damage or destruction is not fully covered by Seller's insurance (other than the deductible amount), then City in its discretion may elect terminate this Agreement or proceed with the Closing and, if it elects to proceed with Closing, will receive a credit against the Purchase Price at the Closing in an amount reasonably determined by Seller and City (after consultation with unaffiliated experts) to be the cost of repairing the damage or destruction, not to exceed Two Million Nine Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$2,900,000). City will have thirty (30) days after damage or destruction to make its election by delivering written notice to Seller. City's failure to deliver its notice within the thirty (30) day period will be deemed City's election to terminate this Agreement. If this Agreement is terminated, then City and Seller will each be released from all obligations under this Agreement (except those that expressly survive termination of this Agreement) and the Lease will continue in full force and effect, except that Section 22.1 [Option to Purchase] will be of no further force or effect.
- (iii) If condemnation proceedings are commenced against any portion of the Property by any entity other than City, then City will have the right, at its election, to (1) terminate this Agreement, or (2) exclude that portion of the Property subject to condemnation

proceedings (in which case there will be an equitable adjustment to the Purchase Price), or (3) to Close on the Property. City will have thirty (30) days after notice of condemnation proceedings to make its election by delivering written notice to Seller. City's failure to deliver its notice within the thirty (30) day period will be deemed City's election to terminate this Agreement. If the portion of the Property subject to condemnation proceedings is excluded under this subsection, then City and Seller will each be released from all obligations under this Agreement pertaining to that portion of the Property affected by the condemnation.

9.2 Insurance

Through the Closing Date, Seller will maintain the insurance required under the Lease.

9.3 Possession

Possession of the Property will be delivered to City on the Closing Date, subject to the Lease and any sublease(s).

10. MAINTENANCE; CONSENT TO NEW CONTRACTS

10.1 Maintenance of the Property by Seller

Until the Closing, Seller and City will maintain the Property as provided in the Lease.

10.2 City's Consent to New Contracts Affecting the Property; Termination of Existing Contracts

After the Reference Date, Seller may not enter into any contract, or any amendment thereof, or waive any rights of Seller under any Assumed Contract, without in each instance obtaining City's prior written consent. City agrees that it will not unreasonably withhold or delay any such consent. Seller, as landlord under the Lease, will be excused from performing any obligations under the Lease where performance is contingent on City's consent, and City has failed to provide such consent. Seller will terminate prior to the Closing, at no cost or expense to City, any and all agreements affecting the Property that are not Assumed Contracts.

11. GENERAL PROVISIONS

11.1 Notices

Section 24.1 of the Lease applies to all notices to be given under this Agreement.

11.2 Brokers and Finders

Neither party has had any contact or dealings regarding the Property, or any communication in connection with this transaction, through any licensed real estate broker or other person who could claim a right to a commission or finder's fee in connection with the purchase and sale contemplated under this Agreement. If any broker or finder perfects a claim for a commission or finder's fee based upon any such contact, dealings or communication, the party through whom the broker or finder makes his or her claim will be responsible for such

commission or fee and will indemnify and hold harmless the other party from all claims, costs, and expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees and disbursements) incurred by the indemnified party in defending against the same. The provisions of this Section will survive the Closing.

11.3 Successors and Assigns

This Agreement is binding upon, and will inure to the benefit of, the parties to this Agreement and their respective successors, heirs, administrators, and assigns. City will have the right, upon notice to Seller, to assign its right, title and interest in and to this Agreement to the nominee or one (1) or more assignees at any time before the Closing Date.

11.4 Amendments

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement or the Lease, this Agreement may be amended or modified only by a written instrument executed by City and Seller.

11.5 Continuation and Survival of Representations and Warranties

All representations and warranties by the respective parties contained in this Agreement or made in writing pursuant to this Agreement are intended to be, and will remain, true and correct as of the Closing, and will survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Closing, or, to the extent the context requires, beyond any termination of this Agreement for a period of twelve (12) months after the Closing Date (the "Survival Period"), at which time such representations and warranties shall terminate. All statements contained in any certificate or other instrument delivered at any time by or on behalf of Seller in conjunction with this transaction will constitute representations and warranties.

11.6 Governing Law

This Agreement is governed by and will be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California and the City and County of San Francisco.

11.7 Merger of Prior Agreements

The parties intend that this Agreement (including all of the attached exhibits and schedules, which are incorporated into this Agreement by reference) are the final expression of their agreement with respect to the purchase and sale of the Property as described in this Agreement and may not be contradicted by evidence of any prior or contemporaneous oral or written agreements or understandings. The parties further intend that this Agreement will constitute the complete and exclusive statement of its terms and that no extrinsic evidence whatsoever (including, without limitation, prior drafts or changes from prior drafts) may be introduced in any judicial, administrative, or other legal proceeding involving this Agreement.

11.8 Parties and Their Agents; Approvals

The term "Seller" includes the plural as well as the singular. If there is more than one (1) Seller, then the obligations under this Agreement imposed on Seller will be joint and several.

The term "Agents" when used with respect to either party includes the agents, employees, officers, contractors, and representatives of such party. All approvals, consents, or other determinations permitted or required by City under this Agreement will be made by or through City's Director of Property unless otherwise provided in this Agreement or applicable Laws.

11.9 Interpretation of Agreement; Cooperative Draft

The article, section, and other headings of this Agreement and the table of contents are for convenience of reference only and will not affect the meaning or interpretation of any provision of the Agreement. Whenever the context requires, the use of the singular will be deemed to include the plural and vice versa, and each gender reference will be deemed to include the other and the neuter. This Agreement has been negotiated at arm's length and between persons sophisticated and knowledgeable in the matters dealt with in this Agreement. In addition, each party has been represented by experienced and knowledgeable legal counsel. Accordingly, any rule of law (including California Civil Code Section 1654) or legal decision that would require interpretation of any ambiguities in this Agreement against the party that has drafted it is not applicable and is waived. The provisions of this Agreement will be interpreted in a reasonable manner to effect the purposes of the parties and this Agreement.

11.10 Attorneys' Fees

If either Seller or City fails to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement or if a dispute arises concerning the meaning or interpretation of any provision of this Agreement, the defaulting party or the non-prevailing party in the dispute, as the case may be, will pay the reasonable attorneys' and experts' fees and costs, and all court costs and other costs of action incurred by the prevailing party in connection with the dispute and/or prosecution or defense of an action and enforcing or establishing its rights under this Agreement (whether or not any action is prosecuted to a judgment). For purposes of this Agreement, reasonable attorneys' fees of City's Office of the City Attorney will be based on the fees regularly charged by private attorneys with the equivalent number of years of experience in the legal subject matter area who practice in the City of San Francisco in law firms with approximately the same number of attorneys as employed by the Office of the City Attorney. The term "attorneys' fees" also includes all fees incurred for appeals, mediations, arbitrations, and bankruptcy proceedings, and whether or not any action is brought in the matter for which the fees were incurred. The term "costs" means the costs and expenses of counsel to the parties, which may include printing, duplicating, and other similar expenses, air freight charges, expert fees, and fees billed for law clerks, paralegals, and others not admitted to the bar but performing services under the supervision of an attorney.

11.11 Sunshine Ordinance

Seller understands and agrees that under the City's Sunshine Ordinance (San Francisco Administrative Code, Chapter 67) and the State Public Records Law (Gov. Code Section 6250 et seq.), this Agreement and any and all records, information, and materials submitted to the City hereunder public records subject to public disclosure. Seller hereby acknowledges that the City may disclose any records, information and materials submitted to the City in connection with this Agreement.

11.12 Conflicts of Interest

Through its execution of this Agreement, Seller acknowledges that it is familiar with the provisions of Article III, Chapter 2 of City's Campaign and Governmental Conduct Code, and Section 87100 et seq. and Section 1090 et seq. of the Government Code of the State of California, and certifies that it does not know of any facts which would constitute a violation of said provision, and agrees that if Seller becomes aware of any such fact during the term of this Agreement, Seller will immediately notify the City.

11.13 Notification of Prohibition on Contributions

Through its execution of this Agreement, Seller acknowledges that it is familiar with Section 1.126 of the San Francisco Campaign and Governmental Conduct Code, which prohibits any person who contracts with the City for the selling or leasing of any land or building to or from any department of the City whenever such transaction would require the approval by a City elective officer, the board on which that City elective officer serves, or a board on which an appointee of that individual serves, from making any campaign contribution to (1) the City elective officer, (2) a candidate for the office held by such individual, or (3) a committee controlled by such individual or candidate, at any time from the commencement of negotiations for the contract until the later of either the termination of negotiations for such contract or twelve (12) months after the date the contract is approved. Seller acknowledges that the foregoing restriction applies only if the contract or a combination or series of contracts approved by the same individual or board in a fiscal year have a total anticipated or actual value of \$100,000 or more. Seller further acknowledges that the (i) prohibition on contributions applies to each Seller; each member of Seller's board of directors, and Seller's chief executive officer, chief financial officer and chief operating officer; any person with an ownership interest of more than ten percent (10%) in Seller; any subcontractor listed in the contract; and any committee that is sponsored or controlled by Seller; and (ii) within thirty (30) days of the submission of a proposal for the contract, the City department with whom Seller is contracting is obligated to submit to the Ethics Commission the parties to the contract and any subcontractor. Additionally, Seller certifies that Seller has informed each of the persons described in the preceding sentence of the limitation on contributions imposed by Section 1.126 by the time it submitted a proposal for the contract, and has provided the names of the persons required to be informed to the City department with whom it is contracting.

11.14 Non-Liability of City Officials, Employees and Agents

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, no elective or appointive board, commission, member, officer, employee or agent of City will be personally liable to Seller, its successors and assigns, in the event of any default or breach by City or for any amount which may become due to Seller, its successors and assigns, or for any obligation of City under this Agreement.

11.15 Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed in two (2) or more counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original, but all of which taken together will constitute one and the same instrument.

11.16 Effective Date

For the avoidance of doubt, as provided in Section 22.1 of the Lease, this Agreement is expressly incorporated into Section 22.1 of the Lease and is effective on the Reference Date, notwithstanding signatures by the parties. Seller and/or City may elect to execute this Agreement for its or their preference or convenience, but the failure of either party to execute this Agreement will not affect the effectiveness or binding nature of the Agreement.

11.17 Severability

If any provision of this Agreement or its application to any person, entity, or circumstance is invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement, or its application to persons, entities, or circumstances other than those as to which it is invalid or unenforceable, will not be affected, and each other provision of this Agreement will be valid and be enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law, except to the extent that enforcement of this Agreement without the invalidated provision would be unreasonable or inequitable under all the circumstances or would frustrate a fundamental purpose of this Agreement.

NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING TO THE CONTRARY CONTAINED IN THIS AGREEMENT, SELLER ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT NO OFFICER OR EMPLOYEE OF CITY HAS AUTHORITY TO COMMIT CITY TO THIS AGREEMENT UNLESS AND UNTIL APPROPRIATE LEGISLATION OF CITY'S BOARD OF SUPERVISORS WILL HAVE BEEN DULY ENACTED APPROVING THIS AGREEMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY. THEREFORE, ANY OBLIGATIONS OR LIABILITIES OF CITY HEREUNDER ARE CONTINGENT UPON THE DUE ENACTMENT OF SUCH LEGISLATION, AND THIS AGREEMENT WILL BE NULL AND VOID IF CITY'S BOARD OF SUPERVISORS AND MAYOR DO NOT APPROVE THIS AGREEMENT, IN THEIR RESPECTIVE SOLE DISCRETION. APPROVAL OF ANY OF THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY BY ANY DEPARTMENT, COMMISSION OR AGENCY OF CITY WILL NOT BE DEEMED TO IMPLY THAT SUCH LEGISLATION WILL BE ENACTED NOR WILL ANY SUCH APPROVAL CREATE ANY BINDING OBLIGATIONS ON CITY.

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGES]

The parties have duly executed this Agreement as of the respective dates written below.	
SELLER:	TC II 888 POST, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
	By: Craig M. Young, Managing Member
	Date: 5/18(21
<u>CITY</u> :	CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO, a municipal corporation
	By: Andrico Q. Penick Director of Property Date:

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

DENNIS J. HERRERA, City Attorney

By: Eileen Chauvet
Eileen Chauvet
Deputy City Attorney

EXHIBIT A

REAL PROPERTY DESCRIPTION

THE LAND REFERRED TO HEREIN BELOW IS SITUATED IN THE CITY OF SAN FRANCISCO, IN THE COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

Commencing at the point of intersection of the Northerly line of Post Street and the Easterly line of Hyde Street; running thence Northerly along the Easterly line of Hyde Street, 137 feet 6 inches; thence at a right angle Easterly 77 feet 6 inches; thence at a right angle Southerly 137 feet 6 inches to the Northerly line of Post Street; thence at a right angle Westerly along said line of Post Street, 77 feet 6 inches to the point of commencement.

Being part of 50 Vara Lot No. 1269, in Block No. 280.

APN: Lot 009, Block 300

EXHIBIT B

GRANT DEED

RECORDING REQUESTED BY AND WHEN RECORDED RETURN TO:

Director of Property Real Estate Division City and County of San Francisco 25 Van Ness Avenue, Suite 400 San Francisco, California 94102

The undersigned hereby declares this instrument to be exempt from Recording Fees (CA Govt. Code § 27383) and Documentary Transfer Tax (S.F. Bus. & Tax Reg. Code § 1105)

(Space above this line reserved for Recorder's use only)

GRANT DEED

(Assessor's Parcel No. 0300/009)

FOR VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, TC II 888 POST, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, hereby grants to the CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO, a municipal corporation, all of Grantor's interest in the real property located in the City and County of San Francisco, State of California, described in Exhibit A attached hereto and made a part hereof, together with the tenements, easements, rights of way and appurtenances belonging or in any way appertaining to the same, and the improvements thereon.

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE]

Executed as of	, 2020.	
		TC II 888 POST, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
		By: Craig M. Young, Managing Member

A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of the individual who signed the document to which this certificate is attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or validity of that document.

State of California)		
County of San Francisco) ss)		
for said State, personally me on the basis of satisfathe within instrument an his/her/their authorized operson(s), or the entity under PENALTY	appearedactory evidence to acknowledged capacity(ies), and pon behalf of who of Perjury under	to be the person(to me that he/sh I that by his/her/ nich the person(s	, a notary public in and, who proved to a(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to he/they executed the same in ar/their signature(s) on the instrument the (s) acted, executed the instrument. the State of California that the foregoing
paragraph is true and con WITNESS my hand and o			
Signature		(Seal)	

CERTIFICATE OF ACCEPTANCE

the foregoing Grant Deed dated	interest in real property located at 888 Po to the City and County of accepted pursuant to Board of Supervisor	f San Francisco, a
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	eved August 7, 1957, and Resolution No.	
	ee consents to recordation thereof by its di	
Dated:	By:	
	Andrico Q. Penick	
	Director of Property	

EXHIBIT C

CERTIFICATE OF TRANSFEROR OTHER THAN AN INDIVIDUAL (FIRPTA Affidavit)

Section 1445 of the Internal Revenue Code provides that a transferee of a United States real property interest must withhold tax if the transferor is a foreign person. To inform the CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO, a municipal corporation, the transferee of certain real property located in the City and County of San Francisco, California, that withholding of tax is not required upon the disposition of such U.S. real property interest by TC II 888 POST, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Transferor"), the undersigned hereby certifies the following on behalf of Transferor:

		Transferor is not a foreign corporation, foreign partnership, foreign trust, or (as those terms are defined in the Internal Revenue Code and Income Tax
	2.	Transferor's U.S. employer identification number is; and
	3.	Transferor's office address is
Service	by the	eror understands that this certification may be disclosed to the Internal Revenue transferee and that any false statement contained herein could be punished by fine or both.
knowle	dge an	of perjury, I declare that I have examined this certificate and to the best of my d belief it is true, correct and complete, and I further declare that I have authority cument on behalf of Transferor.
Dated:		, 20
On beh	alf of:	
		ST, LLC, nited liability company
By: Cra	aig M.	Young, Managing Member

EXHIBIT D

ASSIGNMENT OF LEASE

THIS ASSIGNMENT OF LEASES, made as of , (the "Effective

Date "), by a	nd between	, a	(" Seller "), and	
a		("Buyer"),		
		WITNES	SETH:	
For v follows:	valuable consideration	on, receipt of which	h is acknowledged, Seller ar	nd Buyer agree as
1.	Assignment and A	Assumption.		

- (a) Seller hereby assigns and transfers to Buyer all right, title and interest of Seller in, to and under the Master Lease dated as of January 13, 2020 (the "Lease").
- (b) Buyer accepts the foregoing assignment, and assumes and agrees to perform all of the covenants and agreements in the Lease to be performed by Seller that arise or accrue from and after the Effective Date.
- 2. <u>Further Assurances</u>. Seller and Buyer will execute such other documents and perform such other acts as may be reasonably necessary or proper and usual to effect this Assignment.
- 3. <u>Governing Law</u>. This Assignment is governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California.
- 4. <u>Successors and Assigns</u>. This Assignment shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of Seller and Buyer and their respective personal representatives, heirs, successors and assigns.

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW]

SELLER:	TC II 888 POST, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
	By: Craig M. Young, Managing Member
	Date:
BUYER:	CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO, a municipal corporation
	By: Andrico Q. Penick, Director of Property
	Date:

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Seller and Buyer have executed this Assignment as of the Effective

Date.

City & County of San Francisco

London N. Breed, Mayor



Office of the City Administrator

Carmen Chu, City Administrator Andrico Q. Penick, Director of Real Estate

VIA EMAIL AND FIRST-CLASS US MAIL, CERTIFIED & RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

May 13, 2021

TC II 888 Post, LLC Tidewater Capital, LLC Attn: Craig M. Young 564 Market Street, Suite 225 San Francisco, CA 94104

RE:

Master Lease dated January 13, 2020 (the "Lease") between TC II 888 Post, LLC ("Landlord") and the City and County of San Francisco ("City") for the real property located at 888 Post Street, San Francisco, California ("Premises"); Exercise of Purchase Option

Dear Craig:

As you know, under Section 22.1 of the Lease, Landlord granted the City an option to purchase the Premises for a purchase price of \$29,000,000. Section 22.1 requires that the City's exercise of the option must be early enough to allow the acquisition to close by August 1, 2022 and give Landlord at least 270 days' notice before the City's intended closing date. The exercise notice must include the completed purchase and sale agreement in the form of Exhibit G attached to the Lease (the "**PSA**").

As Josh Keene recently discussed with Ross Stackhouse, the parties are beginning the process to close the transaction in the Fall 2021 (specifically targeting the date that is on or before August 31st). Ross indicated that this date is acceptable to Landlord. While that date is nearly one year before the outside date to acquire the Premises exercise, it is also before 270 days will have elapsed from the date of this notice. On that basis and in order to effectuate the intended closing schedule, please consider this notice as City's exercise of its purchase option under the Lease, provided that Landlord will waive the 270-day prior notice requirement. To acknowledge the City's exercise of the purchase option and to confirm Landlord's waiver of the 270-day prior notice requirement, please countersign this letter where indicated below, and execute the enclosed completed PSA and return one original of each to Josh Keene at your earliest convenience. The PSA will be effective as of the date Landlord countersigns this notice.

As set forth in the Lease and the PSA, the City's purchase of the Property is subject to the City's approval of an appraisal, the title to the Property, and any environmental and other investigation of the Property that the City may deem appropriate; approval by the City's Board of Supervisors and its Mayor at their respective sole discretion and adoption of a

Page 2 Tidewater Capital, LLC May 13, 2021

resolution authorizing purchase; and appropriation all necessary funds, in the time provided in the PSA. As has been the case throughout this partnership, Josh and other applicable representatives from the City will continue to stay in communication with you and your team over the coming months and specifically, apprise you of any issues that may arise.

As provided in the Lease, the Lease, including City's obligation to pay rent will continue in full force and effect until terminated (whether expressly under terms of this Lease, or by merger or otherwise as a matter of law).

Please contact me or Josh if you have any questions or concerns.

Sincerely

Andrico Q. Penick Director of Real Estate

ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED

Landlord (1) waives the requirements for 270 days' prior notice to Landlord of the City's intended closing date, as set forth in Section 22.1(a) of the Lease, (2) acknowledges City's exercise of its purchase option under Section 22.1 of the Lease, and (3) agrees that the PSA is in force and effect as of the date under Landlord's signature below.

TC II 888 Post, LLC,

a Delaware limited liability company

5/16/21

Rv:

Craig M. Young, Managing Member

Date

CC:

Ross Stackhouse (by email rstackhouse@tidewatercap.com)

Josh Keene (by email joshua.keene@sfgov.org)

Virginia Waller (by email vwaller@rodriguezwright.com)

Eileen Chauvet (eileen.chauvet@sfcityatty.org)

City & County of San Francisco

London N. Breed, Mayor



Office of the City Administrator

Carmon Chu, City Administrator Andrico Q. Penick, Director of Real Estate

June 29, 2021

Through City Administrator Carmen Chu

Honorable Board of Supervisors City and County of San Francisco Room 244, City Hall 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place San Francisco, CA 94102

RE: City's Purchase of Real Property - 888 Post Street - TAY Navigation Center

Dear Board Members:

Attached for your consideration is a resolution approving the exercise of the City's option to purchase the multi-level, 33,970 gross square foot building located at 888 Post Street (the "Property") for \$29 million ("Purchase Price").

On July 19, 2019, the Board of Supervisors unanimously approved a resolution urging the City to lease or purchase the Property for the primary purpose of operating a Navigation Center to help and support people experiencing homelessness. In partnership with the Department of Homelessness and Supportive Housing ("HSH"), the Real Estate Division negotiated a 20-year "Lease" of the Property, which was unanimously approved by the Board in February 2020.

Through the Lease, the City has since opened and, through its service provider, now operates the City's first Navigation Center dedicated to meet the unique needs of Transitional Aged Youth ("TAY"). The 75-bed program and supportive space occupy the entire third floor and a portion of the second floor of the Property. The ground floor and the remainder of the second floor are currently vacant, but HSH is undertaking efforts to competitively solicit a user (or users) for those areas.

Lastly, under the Lease, the City also negotiated an option to purchase the Property at the fixed Purchase Price, exercisable by City any time before August 1, 2022. The purchase is subject to future Board approval (today's proposed resolution).

The City waited until the landlord completed the capital improvements at the Property earlier this year before exercising its option to purchase the Property, but sent notice on May 13th of its intent to now do so. If approved, the proposed acquisition would occur on or around August 31, 2021, funded by Series 2021D Health and Recovery General Obligation Bonds. These bond funds were appropriated through Ordinance No. 082-21 and include \$29,100,000 for this proposed acquisition (the \$100,000 contingency is for typical closing costs and insurance to be paid by City). If the City purchases the Property, it will avoid nearly \$39 million in rental payments owed through the initial term of the Lease.

HSH and the Real Estate Division recommend approval of this resolution. Please contact Dylan Schneider from HSH at dylan.schneider@sfgov.org if you have questions about anything programmatic in nature at the Property. Alternatively, please reach out to Josh Keene of my office at joshua.keene@sfgov.org if you have any questions or concerns about the transaction itself.

Sincerely,

Andrico Q. Penick Director of Real Estate



San Francisco Ethics Commission

25 Van Ness Avenue, Suite 220, San Francisco, CA 94102 Phone: 415.252.3100 . Fax: 415.252.3112 ethics.commission@sfgov.org . www.sfethics.org

Received On:

File #: 210772

Bid/RFP #:

Notification of Contract Approval

SFEC Form 126(f)4
(S.F. Campaign and Governmental Conduct Code § 1.126(f)4)

A Public Document

Each City elective officer who approves a contract that has a total anticipated or actual value of \$100,000 or more must file this form with the Ethics Commission within five business days of approval by: (a) the City elective officer, (b) any board on which the City elective officer serves, or (c) the board of any state agency on which an appointee of the City elective officer serves. For more information, see: https://sfethics.org/compliance/city-officers/contract-approval-city-officers

<u> </u>	
1. FILING INFORMATION	
TYPE OF FILING	DATE OF ORIGINAL FILING (for amendment only)
	.0
Original	03.
AMENDMENT DESCRIPTION – Explain reason for amendment	***
	1
	X
	YA COMPANY

2. CITY ELECTIVE OFFICE OR BOARD		
OFFICE OR BOARD	NAME OF CITY ELECTIVE OFFICER	
Board of Supervisors	Members	

3. FILER'S CONTACT	
NAME OF FILER'S CONTACT	TELEPHONE NUMBER
Angela Calvillo	415-554-5184
FULL DEPARTMENT NAME	EMAIL
Office of the Clerk of the Board	Board.of.Supervisors@sfgov.org

4. CONTRACTING DEPARTMENT CONTACT		
NAME OF DEF	PARTMENTAL CONTACT	DEPARTMENT CONTACT TELEPHONE NUMBER
Bryn Mil	ler	978-460-2875
FULL DEPART	MENT NAME	DEPARTMENT CONTACT EMAIL
НОМ	Homelessness and Supportive Housing	bryn.miller@sfgov.org

5. CONTRACTOR	
NAME OF CONTRACTOR	TELEPHONE NUMBER
TC II 888 POST, LLC	415-407-8467
STREET ADDRESS (including City, State and Zip Code)	EMAIL
564 Market Street, Suite 225; San Francisco, CA 94104	cyoung@tidewatercap.com

	-0	•						
6. C0	DNTRACT							
	CONTRACT WAS APPROVED BY THE CITY ELECTIVE OFFICER(S)	ORIGINAL BID/RFP NU	JMBER	FILE NUMBER (If applicable)				
				210772				
DESC	RIPTION OF AMOUNT OF CONTRACT							
\$2	\$29,000,000							
NAT	JRE OF THE CONTRACT (Please describe)							
Ci	ty to purchase property currently under leas							
St. Othor Hutton								
			C.					
				Ö				
7. CO	DMMENTS							
	ONTRACT APPROVAL							
IIIIS	contract was approved by: THE CITY ELECTIVE OFFICER(S) IDENTIFIED ON THIS FORM							
	THE CITE ELECTIVE OFFICER(3) IDENTIFIED ON THIS FORM							
	A BOARD ON WHICH THE CITY ELECTIVE OFFICER(S) SERVES							
	Board of Supervisors							
	200. G 01 3upc. V 13013							
	THE BOARD OF A STATE AGENCY ON WHICH AN APPOINTEE OF	THE CITY ELECTIVE OFFI	ICER(S) II	DENTIFIED ON THIS FORM SITS				

9. AFFILIATES AND SUBCONTRACTORS

List the names of (A) members of the contractor's board of directors; (B) the contractor's principal officers, including chief executive officer, chief financial officer, chief operating officer, or other persons with similar titles; (C) any individual or entity who has an ownership interest of 10 percent or more in the contractor; and (D) any subcontractor listed in the bid or contract.

contract.									
#	LAST NAME/ENTITY/SUBCONTRACTOR	FIRST NAME	ТУРЕ						
1	Young	Craig	Other Principal Officer						
2	TC Fund II, LLC	Ø.	Shareholder						
3		St.							
4		Y's							
5		3							
6		Yo							
7		39	x						
8			CV.						
9			.0						
10									
11									
12									
13									
14									
15									
16									
17									
18									
19									

3

9. AFFILIATES AND SUBCONTRACTORS

List the names of (A) members of the contractor's board of directors; (B) the contractor's principal officers, including chief executive officer, chief financial officer, chief operating officer, or other persons with similar titles; (C) any individual or entity who has an ownership interest of 10 percent or more in the contractor; and (D) any subcontractor listed in the bid or contract.

contract.							
#	LAST NAME/ENTITY/SUBCONTRACTOR	FIRST NAME	ТҮРЕ				
20	20						
21		A					
22							
23		70%					
24		30					
25		S.					
26		9,					
27		9	Č,				
28			70				
29							
30							
31							
32							
33							
34							
35							
36							
37							
38							

9. AFFILIATES AND SUBCONTRACTORS List the names of (A) members of the contractor's board of directors; (B) the contractor's principal officers, including chief executive officer, chief financial officer, chief operating officer, or other persons with similar titles; (C) any individual or entity who has an ownership interest of 10 percent or more in the contractor; and (D) any subcontractor listed in the bid or contract. LAST NAME/ENTITY/SUBCONTRACTOR **FIRST NAME** TYPE 39 40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50 Check this box if you need to include additional names. Please submit a separate form with complete information. Select "Supplemental" for filing type. **10. VERIFICATION** I have used all reasonable diligence in preparing this statement. I have reviewed this statement and to the best of my knowledge the information I have provided here is true and complete.

I have used all reasonable diligence in preparing this statement. I have reviewed this statement and to the best of my knowledge the information I have provided here is true and complete. I certify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and correct. SIGNATURE OF CITY ELECTIVE OFFICER OR BOARD SECRETARY OR CLERK BOS Clerk of the Board